94245.5

No. 74048-2-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CAMICIA,

Respondent,

v.

HOWARD S. WRIGHT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a Washington corporation; and CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Defendants,

and

ANDREW G. COOLEY and KEATING, BUCKLIN & MCCORMACK, INC., P.S.,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Thomas M. Fitzpatrick, WSBA #8894 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW 3rd Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661 Attorneys for Petitioners Cooley and Keating Bucklin & McCormack, Inc., P.S.

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Andrew G. Cooley and Keating, Bucklin & McCormack,

Inc. P.S., ("Cooley") ask this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals

decision set forth in Part B.

•

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion on February 21, 2017. A

copy of the opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-23.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court erroneously believed that City of Mercer Island ("City") fire department records were not specifically protected from production by state and federal health care privacy laws, and that destruction of tort claim records was properly undertaken by the City in accordance with state law, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming sanctions on Cooley where Cooley responded to plaintiff Susan Camicia's discovery requests on behalf of the City in good faith, in an objectively reasonable manner, and Camicia delayed moving to compel on the discovery issues?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to differentiate the circumstances in which an attorney, as opposed to the client, merits the imposition of discovery-related sanctions?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals was largely correct in its discussion of the

facts in this case. Op. at 2-8. However, that court's treatment of the facts

in some instances was erroneous or omits salient facts that require this

Court's attention.

Camicia's counsel issued broad and vague discovery requests in October 2007 that Cooley and the City answered within 30 days of their receipt on October 31, 2007. Thereafter, Camicia's counsel did *nothing* about those responses until the trial court dismissed Camicia's complaint in July 2009, nearly two years later. The appellate process intruded until March 2014, but again, inexplicably, Camicia's counsel waited until *nearly* a year later, on the eve of trial, to move to compel discovery. Notwithstanding Camicia's delay, the trial court issued a May 6, 2015 order (with trial set for May 11), giving the City a mere 48 hours to produce all bicycle incident reports, including health care records from the City's fire department for treating persons with bicycle-related injuries, over an 18year period. Despite the nearly impossible time frame for compliance, the City met the trial court's order. Nevertheless, that court sanctioned Cooley and the City. That sanctions ruling was an abuse of discretion.

Cooley met his obligation as the City's counsel to respond to Camicia's discovery requests. Among Camicia's 2007 interrogatories to the City in 2007 was interrogatory 14, a central focus of Camicia's motion to compel, in which she asked:

Have you or your agents, investigators, lawyers or anyone else investigated any incidents involving danger, injury or death to bicyclists or pedestrian because of fences, bollards, or other obstructions or defects in any sidewalk, path or public right of way in the City of Mercer Island, either before or after this incident. If so, please identify or describe all such investigations and accident locations, the name, address, telephone number and job title of each person who reported or investigated each accident; the date of each accident; the name and number of each incident report and investigation report, and the name, address, telephone number and job title of each person who has custody of the reports or investigation documents.

CP 1342.

.

The City objected to the interrogatory on October 30, 2007, seven

and a half years before Camicia's motion to compel, stating:

Objection. Compound. Vague as to time. Overly broad as to location. If by "incidents" you mean accidents, there have never been any bicycle vs. bollard accidents to the City's institutional knowledge. Otherwise, the question is vague as to time, the word "incident" and "danger." Certainly there have been pedestrian incident in the City since its incorporation.

There was one bike accident in October 2007, where a bicyclist turning around fell off a bicycle and partially struck a cement post on EMW. See police report.

CP 1342.

Thus, the City filed a timely objection to what was objectionable and responded to the remainder of Camicia's interrogatory. Camicia understood as much. There was no doubt that the City was objecting to the unbound timeframe, and was also explicitly objecting to the request's overly broad scope as to location and nature of the condition. CP 1342. To answer these interrogatories, Cooley went to the City departments that would be logical holders of accident reports, including the police department (charged by the law to investigate all accidents including bicycle accidents),<sup>1</sup> the public works department (with jurisdiction over roads and streets) and the parks department (with jurisdiction over park paths). CP 217-18, 833, 1054. No one, including Camicia, suggested that the City's attorney should check with the fire department for what were medical incident report forms. CP 1054.<sup>2</sup>

The City was only able to obtain Camicia's medical incident report form by preparing a release that was compliant with state and federal medical information privacy laws. CP 236. This release was first reviewed by Camicia's attorney and then executed by her, CP 234-36, and, the City's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 46.61.755 states that bicycles "shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by the chapter." RCW 46.52.030 requires both drivers and police to prepare accident reports on a form approved by the Washington State Patrol. The Supreme Court has said: "state law requires police to report accidents (RCW 46.52.070)." *Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 883, 194 P.3d 977, 980 (2008). The City police prepared a police accident report for Camicia's accident.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Both the City and Camicia knew the fire department has EMTs and paramedics who would respond to injury accidents and prepare reports. CP 233-36, 1086. Indeed, Camicia received medical treatment at the scene from both the Mercer Island and Bellevue fire department paramedics. CP 233-36, 394. The records created following that treatment were viewed by both the City and Camicia as confidential health care records, available only with a valid signed release. CP 233-36, 242, 1086. (Budlong letter to Regence warning it not to release Camicia medical billings without RCW 70.02-compliant discovery request).

fire department disclosed Camicia's confidential medical records that it held. CP 236.

Cooley never reviewed any confidential medical records held by the City fire department. CP 218. Such reports were never provided to him or anyone else at the City by the fire department. CP 218, 790-811, 1054-57. The only fire department records he reviewed were the reports created for Camicia's accident, and then only after she executed the referenced voluntary release. CP 236, 394, 1056. Cooley never saw or knew of the incident reports subsequently referenced in the trial court's order.<sup>3</sup> Contrary to the trial court's assertion, this was not a matter of "studied ignorance."

With regard to police records of accident investigations on park property, the police department was charged with investigating such accidents, as noted *supra*. But, *in 2015*, Cooley's firm found and produced to Camicia a 2005 email between the police department and the parks department in which the police department specifically stated that it did not investigate bicycle accidents on park property and that the fire department

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These include the 2005 Plein accident, and accidents that occurred after 2006 involving Petty, Elmer, and Easton. CP 1054. There was a 2014 accident involving Gjerdrum that was referenced in both a police report and a medical incident report, but no evidence the City produced that to its lawyer. The trial court ultimately allowed the introduction of evidence of the Plein and Gjerdrum accidents as an evidentiary sanction. CP 1353.

was the only City agency that responds to injury accidents on park property. CP 304.<sup>4</sup>

On the eve of trial, in late April 2015, Camicia filed a broad motion to compel. CP 186-201. Camicia's motion was extensive, demanding production of all City fire department medical incident reports relating to bicycle injuries, the alleged investigation materials she claimed were generated by Officer Parr, and tort claims forms filed in connection with bicycle-related injuries. *Id*.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED<sup>5</sup>

#### (1) <u>The Court of Appeals Decision Confirms that the Trial</u> <u>Court's Sanction of Cooley Was an Abuse of Discretion</u>

The Court of Appeals was correct in noting that discovery is important to the conduct of civil litigation in Washington. Op. at 9.<sup>6</sup> However, this Court has also indicated that "[f]air and reasoned resistance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The police department did, in fact, investigate Camicia's bicycle accident. The trial court correctly noted that "City officials" were aware of this "underlap," CP 1343, but there was never any evidence that *Cooley* was aware that the fire department had more records than the police department. CP 1054.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This Court is familiar with the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) governing acceptance of review and Cooley will not repeat them here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Decisions pertaining to discovery violations fall within the trial court's discretion and are reviewed for abuse of that discretion. *Wash. Physician Ins. Exch. & Ass 'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) ("Fisons"). However, an abuse of discretion is present if the trial court applies the wrong legal standard in making its sanctions decision. *Kreidler v. Cascade Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 179 Wn. App. 851, 866, 321 P.3d 281 (2014).

to discovery is not sanctionable." *Fisons*, 122 Wn.2d at 346. The City was substantially justified in resisting Camicia's broad discovery requests.<sup>7</sup> Cooley's response on the City's behalf to Camicia's overly broad, vague interrogatories was not itself a discovery violation.

Unacknowledged by the Court of Appeals, op. at 9, historically, sanctions have been reserved for egregious misconduct.<sup>8</sup> Cooley did not engage in egregious misconduct. Even if the City's decision to resist discovery was improper, that does not mean that *Cooley* should have been the subject of severe sanctions separate from those imposed on the City.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Interpreting a rule identical to Washington's CR 37(a)(4), the United States Supreme Court said the "test for avoiding the imposition of attorney's fees for resisting discovery in district court is whether the resistance was 'substantially justified," *Pierce v. Underwood*, 487 U.S. 552, 565, 108 S. Ct. 2541, 2550, 101 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1988) "[D]iscovery conduct should be found 'substantially justified' under Rule 37 if it is a response to a genuine dispute, or if reasonable people could differ as to the appropriateness of the contested action." Rutter, *Prac. Guide Fed. Civ. Proc. Before Trial* (Nat Ed.) Ch. 11(V)-B. In cases where "there is legitimate difference of opinion" about whether an objection and refusal to answer is proper, a court should not find a sanctionable discovery violation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Fisons, supra (party persistently and deliberately withheld two "smoking gun" letters); Magaña v. Hyundai Motor America, 167 Wn.2d 570, 226 P.3d 191 (2012) (sophisticated multinational corporation, experienced in litigation, willfully, deliberately, and continually failed to comply with discovery requests); Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012) (exclusion of key witness); Barton v. State, 178 Wn.2d 193, 308 P.3d 597 (2013) (failure of counsel to disclose settlement agreement); Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2014) (exclusion of late disclosed witnesses). The Court of Appeals has similarly treated discovery violations. E.g., Gammon v. Clark Equipment Co., 38 Wn. App. 274, 686 P.2d 1102 (1984), aff d, 104 Wn.2d 613, 707 P.2d 685 (1985) (deliberate withholding of accident reports); Taylor v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 39 Wn. App. 828, 696 P.2d 28, review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1040 (1985) (manufacturer unilaterally determined what was relevant in responding in discovery requests); Smith v. Behr Processing Corp., 113 Wn. App. 306, 54 P.3d 665 (2002) (manufacturer violated court order requiring witness disclosure in failing to disclose expert opinions or deliver product tests that revealed defects).

The trial court and the Court of Appeals were obliged to document how Cooley specifically merited sanctions.

The trial court here imposed discovery-related sanctions on Cooley ostensibly for three reasons – the failure to produce fire department records, the City's destruction of tort claim records, and the City's failure to produce bicycle accident reports. CP 1344.<sup>9</sup>

The Court of Appeals *agreed with Cooley* that the fire department records were health care records subject to state and federal privacy statutes. Op. at 10.<sup>10</sup> However, it did seem to believe that there were materials in the fire department medical treatment records that could have been produced by the City that were "investigative" in nature. Op. at 10-11. That is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> There was an issue regarding certain photographs taken by Officer Parr at the Camicia accident scene that were inadvertently not produced to Camicia by the City. The photographs were specifically referenced in the City's response to Camicia's discovery requests. CP 1110, 1116. They were produced when the inadvertence was noticed in 2010. CP 118. Such a mistake is not sanctionable, as even the trial court concluded. CP 1346-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Washington's Uniform Health Care Information Act ("UHCIA"), RCW 70.02, broadly protects the privacy of person's health care information generated by a health care provider, foreclosing access by the City to such records. Br. of Appellants at 20-25. As noted *supra*, Camicia's counsel *knew* the UHCIA applied to fire department records. In 2008, over a year after she propounded discovery to the City, Camicia's lawyer reviewed a HIPAA and UHCIA compliance release for the fire department medical records regarding Camicia's treatment. CP 234-36. Thereafter, the only time Camicia would permit opposing parties to review her confidential medical records if the City complied with the UHCIA. CP 242. There is no evidence that Cooley saw Camicia or any other patient's health care records the City fire department possessed. CP 218. HIPAA, 42 U.S.C. § 1320d, *et seq.* is similarly broad and forecloses access to patient records. Br. of Appellants at 26-29. The trial court concluded in its May 6 order that the UHCIA and HIPAA were inapplicable here. CP 420. That was wrong.

*nowhere* supported in this record and was not the basis for the trial court's decision. Moreover, the impracticality of this notion is staggering. The court seems to believe that the City, and Cooley, should have sought permission from all of the persons whose records were at issue – that permission was *mandatory* under state and federal law before any part of those records could be given to Camicia.

The Court of Appeals further *agreed with Cooley* that the City did not engage in spoliation by routinely destroying tort claims in accordance with State Archivist policy. Op. at 13-15.<sup>11</sup>

The Court of Appeals' treatment of health care privacy and spoliation should have resulted in a reversal of the trial court's sanctions ruling that was largely predicated on those determinations. *See, e.g.*, CP 1343-44 ( $\P$  7), 1348 ( $\P$  26). However, the court ultimately concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sanctioning Cooley. The Court of Appeals was wrong, particularly where it had so clearly removed the legal predicate for concluding that Cooley violated discovery principles by its decision.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The routine destruction of tort claims by the City consistent with State Archivist policy is not spoliation as understood in Washington case law. *See* Br. of Appellants at 29-32. The Court of Appeals claimed the trial court's error was harmless, op. at 15, but that is wrong where the trial court used its spoliation decision as part of its analysis to sanction Cooley. CP 1348.

Additionally, Camicia failed to timely raise any discovery-related concerns, a point left unaddressed by the Court of Appeals. Despite the 2007 discovery requests and the City's response, Camicia took *no contemporaneous action on this timely response* to her interrogatories — no CR 26(i) discovery conference, no motion to compel. While this issue has not arisen in Washington law, Camicia should not have been rewarded for her dilatory conduct in failing to timely assert any discovery-related concerns she might have had and waiting until the last minute before trial to assert an entitlement to 18 years of information on all types of bicycle incidents in the City.<sup>12</sup> Camicia was not entitled to wait *8 years* to act on discovery.

Further, the Court of Appeals appeared to conclude that even with the trial court's errors as to the fire department records and spoliation, the trial court's sanctions order as to Cooley could be sustained because he was somehow complicit in the City's deliberate refusal to fully respond to Camicia's discovery. Op. at 15-18. But after *Fisons*, courts must assess whether an attorney's inquiry of a client as to materials responsive to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See, e.g., Rivera-Almodovar v. Instituto Socioeconomico Comunitario, Inc., 730 F.3d 23, 26 (1st Cir. 2013) ("Plaintiff cannot simply sit on her hands until after the discovery period has expired and then claim the defendants have not complied with their discovery obligations."); Rosario v. Livaditis, 963 F.2d 1013, 1019 (7th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1051 (1993) (A party who fails to pursue discovery in the face of a court ordered cut-off cannot plead prejudice from his own inaction).

discovery requests is objectively appropriate; subjective belief or good faith is not enough to avoid sanctionable conduct under CR 26(g) or CR 37(d). Here, Cooley's actions were objectively reasonable and in good faith. Given the circumstances surrounding the discovery requests, Cooley's conduct was not sanctionable.

The trial court's sanctions order concluded that the City willfully failed to respond to discovery without reasonable excuse or justification, CP 1348, but its legal basis for discovery sanctions was certainly flawed where statutory privacy protections applied to the City fire department records, and the City properly destroyed records in accordance with State law, Cooley did not deliberately withhold production of materials in light of what Camicia specifically requested. In fact, some of the records requested did not exist. Nevertheless, the trial court opined that Cooley's responses to the discovery requests were false or misleading, and his invocation of health care information privacy laws as to fire department records was unjustifiable. CP 1349-50. The trial court was wrong and the Court of Appeals so ruled. Ultimately, the trial court was unreasonable in asserting that Cooley had a duty to somehow seek out records to which he had no access. CP 1344.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Also, before the trial court, Camicia took inconsistent opinions. First, she claimed that the City did not possess any privileged records, arguing that she was not seeking health care records and the UHCIA and HIPAA did not apply to fire department

More critically, Cooley made an objectively reasonable request to the City departments most likely to produce materials responsive to Camicia's discovery request. Here, the fire department did not share its medical records from bicycle incidents with other City departments, recognizing privacy restrictions. CP 218, 810-11. Neither Cooley or those other departments would know of those records. Contrary to the trial court's assertion regarding "institutional knowledge" on the City's part, CP 1349, it was a correct response to state what the City's institutional knowledge was. Cooley was not responsible for discovering what five separate City departments actually possessed, including the fire department records, to which he had no access. He acted reasonably in seeking the records from his municipal client's logical departments where they would likely exist.<sup>14</sup>

paramedics. CP 363. She also suggested that the City needed to produce a privilege log. CP 361. She never explained how the failure to produce a privilege log could be squared with her position that no privilege existed. Moreover, she never explained how failure to produce a privilege log prejudiced her in any way. Camicia and her counsel knew that the City viewed fire department medical reports as privileged.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In *Magaña*, the corporate lawyer only looked at the legal department files for evidence of other seat back failure claims. 167 Wn.2d at 198. But it was the Consumer Affairs Department that worked with consumers to report defects. *Id.* Indeed, consumers were directed by the owner's manual to report issues to the Consumer Affairs Department. *Id.* Thus it was the logical place to look.

Here the logical place to look was the police department (with jurisdiction over accident reports) and the parks department (with jurisdiction over park property). RCW 46.52.030(1). Cooley could not know that both the police and bike accident victims would abrogate their duty to file statutorily required reports.

The trial court's determination that Cooley "strategically ignored looking at Fire Department records" is unsupported by the record. CP 1344.<sup>15</sup>

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that a municipal attorney engages in "egregious misconduct" justifying severe sanctions when she/he asks what are believed to be the most likely municipal departments to have relevant records expands the obligation of government attorneys beyond any recognizable reasonable boundaries. Under this reasoning, an assistant attorney general receiving a discovery request in a case involving a Department of Corrections tort must nevertheless canvass *all* state agencies for potentially responsive records. That is an unnecessary burden.

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