RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

Supreme Court No. 942455 Court of Appeals No. 74048-2-I King Co. Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-29545-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUSAN CAMICIA,

Respondent,

vs.

HOWARD S. WRIGHT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, a Washington corporation; and CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Defendants,

ANDREW G. COOLEY and KEATING, BUCKLIN & MCCORMACK, INC., P.S.,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

George M. Ahrend WSBA #25160 Ahrend Law Firm PLLC 100 E. Broadway Ave. Moses Lake, WA 98837 (509) 764-9000

Attorney for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Review should be granted to emphasize that adversarial considerations are subordinate to the cooperative exchange of information in the discovery process.

Cooley does not identify any conflict between the decision below and any decision of this Court or any other decision of the Court of Appeals, as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Neither does he contend that a significant question of constitutional law is involved, as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). For the most part, Cooley simply argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the superior court's sanctions order, although this does not independently justify review. Nonetheless, the parties appear to agree that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). *See* Pet. for Rev., at 15, 17 & 20. The conflicting views of the civil discovery process represented by the parties to this case present an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

The difference between the parties in this case relates to the relationship between "spirit of cooperation and forthrightness during the discovery process," which the Court has recognized "is necessary for the proper functioning of modern trials," *see Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 342; and permissible "fair and reasoned resistance to discovery," *see id.* at 346. Camicia contends that the cooperative exchange of information must take precedence over adversarial considerations to promote the efficient and prompt resolution of meritorious claims and the efficient elimination of meritless claims. *See Lowy v. PeaceHealth*, 174 Wn. 2d 769, 777, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012). Adversariness in the discovery process undermines the truth-seeking function of litigation and brings the civil justice system into disrepute. *See Fisons*, at 341-42.

Camicia further contends that fair and reasoned resistance to discovery is limited to those procedures provided by the discovery rules. If there is uncertainty about the meaning of a discovery request or a legitimate objection to the information requested, then the parties can clarify or limit the request in the context of a discovery conference under CR 26(i). If the parties cannot agree regarding the proper scope of discovery, the party resisting disclosure can seek a protective order under CR 26(c), or the party requesting discovery can file a motion to compel under CR 37. However, when a party responding to discovery unilaterally withholds or limits its search for information responsive to discovery requests on the basis of stated or unstated objections, the requesting party has no way of knowing what was not produced.

15

Cooley's petition for review does not acknowledge the spirit of cooperation and forthrightness that is supposed to govern the discovery process, but instead exalts "fair and reasoned resistance to discovery" and argues that the discovery responses in this case were justified, and even required, by adversarial considerations. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 6-7. If by exalting resistance to discovery Cooley intends to suggest that adversarial considerations have *equal weight* as cooperation and forthrightness in the discovery process, review is warranted to address how these competing concerns should be balanced when they come into conflict. If Cooley intends to suggest that adversarial considerations *trump* cooperation and forthrightness in certain circumstances, review is warranted to clarify what those circumstances are and when they arise.

If, however, experienced and prominent counsel still fail to recognize that adversarial considerations are subordinate to cooperation and forthrightness in the discovery process more than 20 years after *Fisons*, and that fair and reasoned resistance to discovery is limited to the procedures provided by the discovery rules, review is warranted to eliminate persistent confusion among the bar. 1. The Court should emphasize that the constitutional right of access to courts entails a broad right to discovery of information that is potentially relevant to the subject matter of the action.

"Parties may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action." CR 26(b)(1). "It is not ground for objection that the information sought will be inadmissible at trial if the information sought appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." Id. Relevance for purposes of discovery is much broader than it is for purposes of admissibility at trial under ER 401-402, encompassing all information that is potentially relevant. See Barfield v. Seattle, 100 Wn. 2d 878, 886, 676 P.2d 438 (1984). Potential relevance is determined with reference to "the general subject matter of the action," rather than "the precise issues raised by the pleadings; and inquiry as to any matter which is **or may become relevant** to the subject matter of the action should be allowed, subject only to the objection of privilege." Bushman v. New Holland Div. of Sperry Rand Corp., 83 Wn. 2d 429, 434, 518 P.2d 1078 (1974). The availability of such discovery is grounded in the constitutional right of access to courts

under Wash. Const. Art. I, § 10. *See, e.g., Lowy v. PeaceHealth,* 174 Wn. 2d 769, 776-77, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012).

Cooley appears to take a different view, arguing that the information sought by Camicia is merely irrelevant, as opposed to not "reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence" or not potentially relevant to the subject matter of the action.⁴

2. The Court should emphasize that a lawyer responding to discovery cannot unilaterally limit the scope of a request, and all requested information must be produced in the absence of an objection or agreement.

A lawyer responding to discovery cannot unilaterally limit the scope of a request. *See Gammon v. Clark Equip. Co.,* 38 Wn. App. 274, 281, 686 P.2d 1102 (1984), *aff'd on other grounds,* 104 Wn. 2d 613, 707 P.2d 685 (1985); *Fisons,* 122 Wn. 2d at 342

⁴ In the superior court, Camicia explained that discovery of similar incidents was potentially relevant to at least six different issues: "(1) to the City's pre-incident notice of its bike path obstruction hazards; (2) to the City's knowledge of the serious danger and harm associated with bike-bollard and other bike-obstruction collisions; (3) to refute the City's false interrogatory answer and misrepresentations of its Parks Director and City Engineer that 'there have never been any bicycle vs. bollard accidents to the City's institutional knowledge'; (4) to prevent the City from using its nondisclosure of other bicycle-obstruction collisions and injuries to unfairly and falsely single out Susan Camicia as the only bicyclist who ever hit a bollard; (5) to the City's unofficial policy directed by its City Manager and City Attorney of not 'want[ing] to draw ANY attention to bollards and/or [perform] bollard maintenance'; and (6) to the City's misuse of the recreational use immunity statute, RCW 4.24.210, to attempt to eliminate the legal and financial consequences of its unofficial policy of disregarding its duty to maintain the I-90 trail in a reasonably safe condition for bicycle travel." CP 360 (citation omitted).

(approving *Gammon* Court of Appeals decision); *Magaña v*. *Hyundai Motor Am.*, 167 Wn. 2d 570, 577, 220 P.3d 191 (2009) (affirming default as discovery sanction where lawyer unilaterally "reworded and limited" the scope of discovery). In the absence of an objection or an agreement to limit the scope of discovery under CR 26(i), "the rules are clear that a party must *fully* answer all interrogatories and all requests for production[.]" *Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 353-54 (emphasis in original); *accord Lowy*, 174 Wn. 2d at 789 (quoting *Fisons* for this proposition).

Cooley appears to take a different view, unilaterally rewording and limiting the scope of Camicia's discovery requests, and withholding and limiting the search for responsive information based on unstated objections under the UHCIA and HIPAA.

3. The Court should emphasize that a lawyer responding to discovery must search for responsive information where it is likely to be found.

A lawyer searching for information responsive to discovery requests must perform "a reasonable inquiry." CR 26(g). This means that the lawyer must look where responsive information is known to be or likely to be found. *See Magaña*, 167 Wn. 2d at 585 (stating "[a] corporation must search *all of its departments*, not just its legal department, when a party requests information about other claims during discovery"; emphasis added); *Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 347 & 353 (imposing sanctions against defendant that failed to produce records from different files); *Fellows v. Moynihan*, 175 Wn. 2d 641, 657, 285 P.3d 864 (2012) (stating "this court has held that a party is not required to specify the exact file in which certain records are held"); *see also Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn. 2d 29, 37-38, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000) (holding that municipalities are subject to the same standard as private parties with respect to litigation conduct).

Cooley appears to take a different view, contending that he did not have an obligation to look for responsive information in tort claims files or the fire department, even though they were known to have responsive information.

4. The Court should emphasize that privileges cannot be used to avoid disclosure of factual information that is otherwise responsive to a discovery request.

The existence of a privilege does not relieve a lawyer responding to discovery from the obligation to consult allegedly privileged information to determine whether they contain or reveal otherwise discoverable information. *See Lowy*, 174 Wn. 2d at 781 (stating "statutory privileges in general ... are not to be used as a mechanism to conceal from discovery otherwise discoverable information"; ellipses added).

Cooley acknowledges this point, but contends that it is limited to the hospital quality improvement committee context. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 14. This contention is contrary to the language of *Lowy*, and the normal rule a privilege "does not shield facts from discovery." *Newman v. Highland Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn. 2d 769, 778, 381 P.3d 1188 (2016) (attorney-client privilege).⁵

5. The Court should emphasize that a lawyer objecting to discovery must specify whether responsive information has been withheld or the search for responsive information has been limited on the basis of the objection.

A lawyer responding to discovery must specify whether responsive information has been withheld or the search for responsive information has been limited on the basis of an objection. *See Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 352 (stating responses to discovery did not comply with the spirit or letter of the discovery rules because "objections did not specify that certain documents

⁵ Cooley's objections based on the UHCIA and HIPAA were not asserted in answer to Camicia's discovery requests, but only after she filed a motion to compel. These objections are limited to records of the City fire department, and are not alleged to cover other information withheld by Cooley. While some records of the fire department may be subject to the UHCIA or HIPAA, Cooley does not cite any provision of the UHCIA or HIPAA that provides **all** information in the possession of the fire department is covered by these laws. As the Court of Appeals noted, "[a] search of accident records in the Fire Department may well have produced responsive information concerning whether and where accidents occurred without disclosing protected 'health care information.'" Slip op., at 11.

were not being produced"). Otherwise, the requesting party is in the dark, does not know whether information has been withheld, and is deprived of the opportunity to confer under CR 26(i), and, if necessary, file a motion to compel under CR 37.

Cooley appears to take a different view, contending that he did not have an obligation to disclose limitations on the search he performed. It was later learned that he excluded tort claims files and the fire department from his search, and it is unknown whether any other City files or departments were excluded. In the meantime, tort claims files were destroyed and the trial had to be continued as a result of Cooley's failure to disclose.

6. The Court should emphasize that a lawyer objecting to discovery has the burden to seek a protective order if the parties cannot agree to limit the scope of a request.

"[T]he burden of disclosure is upon the party who is requested to disclose." *Lowy*, 174 Wn. 2d at 789. If the parties cannot agree to limit the scope of a request, the lawyer asserting an objection has the obligation to file a motion to compel. *See Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 354 (stating "[i]f the drug company did not agree with the scope of production or did not want to respond, then it was required to move for a protective order"; brackets added); *Lowy*, 174 Wn. 2d at 789 (stating "[i]t is up to the [responding party] to move for a protective order if it '[does] not agree with the scope of production or [does] not want to respond'"; quoting *Fisons*, 122 Wn. 2d at 354; alterations in original); *Magaña*, 167 Wn. 2d at 584 (affirming sanctions against a party who did not seek a protective order and merely asserted that the requests were overbroad and irrelevant).

Cooley acknowledges this point, but complains that a motion for a protective order is invariably required. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 14-15 & 17. The complaint ignores the duty to confer under CR 26(i), which eliminates the need for a motion in most cases. If the requesting party is unreasonable, terms are available under CR 26(c). In the final analysis, however, this Court has already placed the burden of obtaining a protective order on the party responding to discovery.

7. The Court should emphasize that a lawyer's obligations in responding to discovery are not contingent upon a motion to compel.

A lawyer's obligations in responding to discovery do not hinge upon the requesting party filing a motion to compel. *See Magaña*, 167 Wn. 2d at 588 (stating "[the requesting party] should not have needed to file a motion for an order to compel [the responding party] to produce the documents [the responding party] was required to produce by the discovery requests themselves, nor does this opinion rest on the existence of a discovery order"; brackets added). As a practical matter, the requesting party will often be unaware of whether or not the responding party has fully satisfied their obligations.

Cooley appears to take a different view, criticizing Camicia for not filing a motion to compel at an earlier time. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 1-3.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court should grant review, and affirm the Court of Appeals.